2007

Vickie Lynn Ward v. IHC Health Services; McKay-Dee Hospital; Mountain West Anesthesia : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is taken from a final order of the Second District Court.

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j), § 78-2-2(4), and § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the district court's interpretation of two separate release agreements, executed at different times and containing fundamentally inconsistent terms and provisions, was in error or whether the agreements can somehow be harmonized and enforced consistent with the district court's reasoning. (R. at 1660-95, 1871-78).

“Questions of contract interpretation not requiring resort to extrinsic evidence are matters of law, and on such questions we accord the trial court's interpretation no presumption of correctness.” Sackler v. Savin, 897 P.2d 1217, 1220 (Utah 1995). “We review [a] district court's decision to grant summary judgment for correctness, granting no deference to the district court. Swan Creek Village Homeowners v. Warne, 134 P.3d 1122, 1126 (Utah 2006).

2. Whether the district court improperly granted summary judgment deeming the contested release agreements unambiguous but then looking

beyond the four corners and the plain language of the agreements in endeavoring to establish an intent inconsistent with that expressed therein. (R. at 1632-1654, 1871-1878).

Questions of contract interpretation are reviewed for correctness with no deference accorded to the trial court. Sackler v. Savin, 897 P.2d 1217, 1220 (Utah 1995). “We review the district court’s entry of summary judgment for correctness. We recognize that “[s]ummary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Wilcox v. Anchor Wate Co., ___ P.3d ___ (Utah 2006).

“If, however, the meaning of a contract must be determined by the consideration of extrinsic evidence, that raises a question of fact for the trier of fact that will preclude summary judgment.” Interwest Construction v. Palmer, 923 P.2d 1350, 1359 (Utah 1996).¹

3. Whether the district court erred in ruling that a secret indemnity agreement executed between the Defendants can be invoked as a shield to abrogate Plaintiff’s claims on the basis that the effect of the undisclosed

¹ Reference to extrinsic evidence to ascertain the parties’ intent creates “a question of fact to be resolved by the trier of fact, therefore precluding [a] grant of summary judgment.” WebBank v. American General Annuity Service Corp., 54 P.3d 1139, 1142 (Utah 2002).

accord would ostensibly result in an impermissible circuitry of action. (R. at 1632-1654, 1660-1695, 1871-1878).

Questions of contract interpretation are reviewed for correctness with no deference accorded to the trial court. Sackler v. Savin, 897 P.2d 1217, 1220 (Utah 1995). “We review [a] district court's decision to grant summary judgment for correctness, granting no deference to the district court.” Swan Creek Village Homeowners v. Warne, 134 P.3d 1122, 1126 (Utah 2006).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

Since the primary issues raised on appeal all concern the force and effect of certain contractual provisions interpreted by the district court, there are no explicitly dispositive statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations. Nevertheless, the following case law would inform the Court’s adjudication of this matter:

“Summary judgment is appropriate when no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Because entitlement to summary judgment is a question of law, we accord no deference to the trial court's resolution of the legal issues presented. In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, we view the facts

and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Peterson v. Sunrider Corp., 48 P.3d 918, 924 (Utah 2002)(internal citation omitted).

“[S]ummary judgment may not be granted if . . . an ambiguity exists in the contract and there is a factual issue as to what the parties intended.”

Id. “When a contract is clear on its face, extraneous or parol evidence is generally not admissible to explain the intent of the contract.” Faulkner v. Farnsworth, 665 P.2d 1292, 1293 (Utah 1983). “When ambiguity does exist, the intent of the parties is a question of fact to be determined by the jury.” Plateau Min. Co. v. Utah Div. of State Lands and Forestry, 802 P.2d 720, 725 (Utah 1990).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case arises from a serious incident of medical malpractice that occurred on July 18, 2000, at McKay-Dee Hospital, leaving the patient, Terry F. Ward, mentally impaired and permanently disabled.

Prior to filing a complaint Terry Ward’s wife, Plaintiff Vickie Lynn Ward, agreed to a settlement with the anesthesiologist who participated in her husband’s operation, John Luckwitz, MD, an employee of Third Party

Defendant Mountain West Anesthesia, LLC (hereinafter “Mountain West”). In connection with this settlement, Mrs. Ward executed a release agreement on March 16, 2001. A second release containing different provisions and expressly purporting to supersede the first release was subsequently executed on March 29, 2001.

Mrs. Ward then brought an action against Defendant McKay-Dee Hospital (hereinafter “McKay-Dee”) under a theory of ostensible agency. Mrs. Ward asserted that the hospital is vicariously liable for the negligence that resulted in Mr. Ward’s catastrophic injuries since McKay-Dee both selected and procured the anesthesia services for the ill-fated procedure. McKay-Dee and Mountain West sought and obtained summary judgment relying on certain provisions taken from the first of those two different March 2001 release agreements.

Plaintiff appeals the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of Defendants McKay-Dee and Mountain West. The disposition of this appeal turns on the current legal effect of the two separate releases.

Relevant Facts

1. On or about July 18, 2000, Terry F. Ward was admitted to McKay-Dee Hospital for routine hernia repair surgery. (R. at 580, 743).

2. The operation was performed by Dr. Steven J. Carabine. (R. at 743).
3. Dr. Carabine was assisted during the procedure by anesthesiologist Dr. John Luckwitz. (R. at 743).
4. Terry Ward never met Dr. Luckwitz until just moments before the surgery. (R. at 575, 583).
5. Dr. Luckwitz was selected and/or assigned to participate in the surgery by McKay-Dee Hospital. (R. at 573-575, 579, 597).
6. As an anesthesiologist working at McKay-Dee Hospital, Dr. Luckwitz customarily received assignments from the Hospital specifying which surgeries he would participate in on any given day. (R. at 574, 579, 597-598).
7. Prior to Terry Ward's surgery, Mr. Ward was considered to be "a very healthy gentleman without underlying medical conditions." (R. at 575).
8. During Terry Ward's surgery, severe complications arose resulting in, among other things, cardiac arrest and permanent brain injury. (R. at 581, 758).
9. Claims arising from Dr. Luckwitz's participation in the surgery were subsequently settled, and a final Release and Settlement Agreement

memorializing the same was executed on March 29, 2001. (R. at 1683-1695).

10. The final Release and Settlement Agreement (“Final Agreement”) was executed by Vickie L. Ward, as Permanent Guardian and Conservator of the Estate of Terry F. Ward, and by Scottsdale Insurance Company, as agent for Dr. John Luckwitz and Mountain West Anesthesia. (R. at 1683-84, 1695).

11. Under the terms of the Final Agreement, all claims against McKay-Dee Hospital were expressly reserved. (R. at 1685).

12. The Final Agreement includes a complete integration clause explicitly affirming that there are no other valid or binding arrangements or agreements of any kind between any of the parties:

This Agreement contains the *entire agreement* between the Claimant, the Insured, and the Insurance Company . . . There are *no other understandings or agreements, verbal or otherwise* . . . between the Parties.

(R. at 1692) (emphasis added).

13. The Final Agreement additionally provides:

The Parties . . . warrant and represent that *no promise, inducement or agreement not expressed in this Agreement has been made* to them and that *this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties* and that the terms of this Agreement are contractual and not mere recitals.

(R. at 1693) (emphasis added).

14. A preliminary settlement document entitled “Settlement Agreement and General Release” (“preliminary agreement”) was executed on March 16, 2001, two weeks before the Final Agreement. (R. at 1681).

15. The preliminary agreement contained a boilerplate indemnification clause not incorporated into the Final Agreement. (R. at 1678-1681, 1683-1695).

16. Plaintiff has maintained that pursuant to the express terms of the Final Agreement, the preliminary agreement was superseded and is of no legal effect. (R. at 1660-1675).

17. Notwithstanding the disputed validity of the preliminary agreement, like the Final Agreement, it likewise articulates the parties’ unequivocal intent of preserving Plaintiffs’ claims against McKay-Dee Hospital:

Nothing in this Release shall be construed as releasing Ward’s claims against . . . McKay Dee Hospital, and/or its employees.

(R. at 1678) (emphasis added).

18. McKay-Dee Hospital is not a party to either the Final Agreement or the preliminary agreement, and nothing in either document suggests that McKay-Dee Hospital was an express or intended third-party beneficiary, or

had any standing to invoke or enforce the same. (R. at 1678-1681, 1683-1695).

19. At the time the preliminary agreement and the Final Agreement were negotiated and executed, Mountain West had a separate secret contractual arrangement with McKay-Dee Hospital in place that included certain indemnification provisions that Mountain West failed to disclose to Plaintiff. (R. at 1455-1476).

20. In February 2004, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint asserting, among other things, a claim against McKay-Dee Hospital under a theory of ostensible agency, claiming that McKay-Dee was vicariously liable for the acts and omissions of Dr. Luckwitz. (R. at 759-760).

21. Several years after the action below was brought, both Mountain West and McKay-Dee later invoked the secret indemnification agreement that they had amongst themselves to argue that Plaintiff could not pursue an ostensible agency claim against McKay-Dee Hospital claiming it would result in a so-called "circuitry of action." (R. at 1404-1416, 1479-1485, 1501-1519, 1877).

22. On November 13, 2006, the trial court heard oral argument on a summary judgment motion filed by Mountain West and joined by McKay-

Dee Hospital, which posited, among other things, that the preliminary agreement remained enforceable and could be harmonized with the Final Agreement which explicitly purported to superseded it, and that the secret indemnity agreement between Mountain West and McKay-Dee Hospital could be invoked to create a circuitry of action precluding Plaintiff's claims notwithstanding their failure to inform Plaintiff of the agreement at the time the Final Agreement was negotiated. (R. at 1871-1878).

23. The trial court subsequently entered an order granting summary judgment. (R. at 1886-1889).

24. Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal seeking review of the trial court's grant of summary judgment. (R. at 1890-1892).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's grant of summary judgment motion is premised on a disputed indemnification clause found in the preliminary agreement but not incorporated into the Final Agreement. Plaintiff contends that pursuant to several separate merger and integration clauses contained in the Final Agreement, the entire preliminary agreement was superseded and rendered invalid.

Plaintiff argues that since the trial court found no ambiguity in the terms of the final agreement, it had a duty to ascertain and to enforce the parties' intent consistent with the plain language thereof. By ignoring and giving no effect to the multiple merger and integration mechanisms, however, the trial court failed to do that. Additionally, the trial court entertained and relied on extrinsic evidence to arrive at an outcome inconsistent with these same contractual provisions by purporting to "harmonize" the Final Agreement with the preliminary agreement to preserve the disputed indemnification provision.

Plaintiff alternatively argues that if both the Final Agreement and the preliminary agreement remain valid notwithstanding the multiple integration clauses, and if extrinsic evidence is to be freely considered in determining their underlying intent, then it is clear that one of the central components of the settlement was to preserve, to the fullest extent, Plaintiff's claims against McKay-Dee Hospital. The settlement between Plaintiff and Mountain West was not to be interpreted or applied in any way that would impede those claims.

Mountain West, however, subsequently came forward endeavoring to impede Plaintiff's claims against McKay-Dee by claiming that if

Plaintiff recovers from McKay-Dee, Mountain West may in turn have to indemnify McKay-Dee on the basis of an alleged arrangement that McKay-Dee and Mountain West have with each other. Mountain West failed to disclose its arrangement vis-à-vis McKay-Dee to Plaintiff during settlement, but now wants to employ the terms of that agreement, in concert with the separate terms of the preliminary settlement with Plaintiff to prevent Plaintiff from pursuing her separate claims against McKay-Dee lest Mountain West incur some liability to McKay-Dee.

Finally, Plaintiff contends that the concept of “circular litigation” relied upon by the trial court in this case is erroneous because it essentially requires a prospective adjudication of circumstances and claims that may or may not actually ripen into an actual conflict. Additionally, in the case at issue, the trial court simply assumes the existence and validity of an ostensible indemnification arrangement between Mountain West and McKay-Dee, but fails to make any explicit findings on the record that it ever actually reviewed such a document and could legitimately conclude as a matter of law that it is enforceable and that no viable defenses to its application in this context exist. There was no argument and no briefing regarding this side agreement and its validity or applicability.

Summary judgment was inappropriately granted for all of these reasons.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT PREMISED ON AN INCORRECT DETERMINATION OF THE LEGAL EFFECT OF THE PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT VIS-À-VIS THE FINAL AGREEMENT.

Paramount to this Court's review is a determination of the legal effect of the preliminary agreement which provides the critical underpinning of the trial court's summary judgment ruling. The preliminary agreement contains a disputed indemnification clause not incorporated into the parties' Final Agreement, upon which the trial court's grant of summary judgment motion was premised.

If this Court agrees with Plaintiff that the entire preliminary agreement has been integrated and superseded by the Final Agreement, the Court need not proceed to determine the particular scope and effect of the contested indemnification clause, and attempt to divine the parties' understandings and intentions with respect to the same.

"The lower court's interpretation of a contract presents a question of law, which we review for correctness. We also review for correctness the

trial court's grant of summary judgment and afford no deference to its legal conclusions." Tom Heal Commercial Real Estate, Inc. v. Overton, 116 P.3d 965, 967 (Utah App. 2005).

"When reviewing a trial court's grant of a motion for summary judgment, this court . . . considers all evidence and reasonable inferences derived therefrom in the light most favorable to the losing party below." Bear River Mutual Ins. Co. v. Williams, 153 P.3d 798 (Utah App. 2006).

A. The preliminary agreement was explicitly superseded by the express terms of the Final Agreement.

"A basic tenet of contract law is that prior negotiations and agreements merge into the final written agreement on the subject." Panos v. Olsen and Associates Const., Inc., 123 P.3d 816, 819 (Utah App. 2005) (citations omitted). "Importantly, courts apply a presumption that a writing which on its face appears to be an integrated agreement is what it appears to be." The Cantamar, L.L.C. v. Champagne, 142 P.3d 140, 147 (Utah App. 2006).

"If contract terms are clear and unambiguous, we normally interpret them according to their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to extrinsic evidence." Homer v. Smith, 866 P.2d 622, 629 (Utah App. 1993) (citations omitted).

In the present matter, the language incorporated by the parties in their Final Agreement makes apparent that they intended it to be a final and fully integrated expression of the settlement reached:

The Parties . . . warrant and represent that no promise, inducement, or agreement not expressed in this Agreement has been made to them and that this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and that the terms of this Agreement are contractual and not mere recitals.

(R. at 1693).

This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the Claimant, the Insured, and the Insurance Company with regard to the matters set forth in it. There are no other understandings or agreements, verbal or otherwise, in relation to the Agreement, between the parties except as expressly set forth in it.

(R. at 1692).

The viability of Mountain West's summary judgment motion, however, was entirely contingent upon the application of a boilerplate indemnification provision recited in the preliminary agreement but excluded in the Final Agreement. (R. at 1871-1877). In granting summary judgment then, the district court completely ignored the two express and separate merger/integration clauses found in the Final Agreement. Instead, the district court purported to "harmonize" the preliminary agreement with the Final Agreement, rather than simply interpreting the merger/integration

clauses in accordance with their plain, unambiguous terms. (R. at 1871-1877)

In essence, the district court's ruling suggests that while the Final Agreement expressly disclaims all other "promises, inducements, or agreements," and establishes itself as the, "entire agreement between the Claimant, the Insured, and the Insurance Company," there really are, in fact, ancillary agreements, and the Final Agreement is *not* the conclusive integrated agreement that it purports to be. Id. The district court, for instance, erroneously suggests that the agreements can be "harmonized" and that the multiple integration/merger clauses of the Final Agreement do not supersede the indemnification clause of the preliminary agreement because the Final Agreement does not specifically and separately disclaim the indemnification clause. Id. There is no legitimate authority for such a proposition, and this Court should not uphold a standard whereby every provision of a preliminary arrangement not ultimately incorporated into a final arrangement is presumed to remain in force despite an express integration clause unless the final agreement specifically addresses and invalidates each such preliminary provision separately.

Even the case law cited by the district court fails to support this misguided notion. For example, the district court looks to Acequia, Inc. v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America 226 F.3d 798 (7th Cir. 2000), to support the proposition that an original contract remains in force unless expressly superseded by a later agreement. (R. at 1873). While Acequia does indeed deal with the issue of the force and effect of two separate agreements between the disputing parties, unlike the present case, neither agreement includes the type of express merger/integration clause that the Final Agreement in this matter uses to memorialize the parties' accord. In fact, in this case, we have not just one, but several distinct clauses purporting to close the loop and rendering the Final Agreement just that, a final and complete agreement. (R. at 1692-1693). Likewise, Lincoln Elec. Co. v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co. 210 F.3d 672 (6th Cir. 2000), relied on by the trial court, is inapposite to the present case for the same reasons.

B. If the Final Agreement is unambiguous, as the trial court declares, its terms must be given effect and interpreted in accordance with their plain meaning and without resort to external, contradictory evidence.

“If the contract is in writing and the language is not ambiguous, the intention of the parties must be determined from the words of the agreement.” Bailey-Allen Co., Inc. v. Kurzet, 945 P.2d 180,190 (Utah

App. 1997); also Homer v. Smith, 866 P.2d 622, 629 (Utah App. 1993).

Additionally, this Court has held, “If the language within the four corners of the contract is unambiguous a court determines the parties’ intentions from the plain meaning of the contractual language as a matter of law.”

Panos at 820.

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