2007

Vickie Lynn Ward v. IHC Health Services Inc.;
McKay-Dee Hospital, Mountain West Anesthesia :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly dealt with this issue by summary judgment. Mrs. Ward never seriously argued before the trial court that there were material facts in dispute. Interpretation of unambiguous contracts presents questions of law which are appropriate for disposition on summary judgment. The trial court did not err in granting that judgment.

The most glaring weakness in Mrs. Ward's arguments is the conclusory assumption that the Settlement Agreement was, in some way, intended by the parties to be a "preliminary agreement" to be replaced by and subsumed into the Scottsdale Agreement. There is no evidence to support this assumption. In fact, the terms of the Settlement Agreement expressly treat that Agreement as entire and without any collateral agreements between the parties. The reality is that the two Agreements are separate and complete in and of themselves.

While the trial court was able to harmonize the two agreements, that process was likely unnecessary. Each agreement can be enforced independently without

conflicting with the other. The Settlement Agreement was signed by Mrs. Ward and its provisions, including the indemnification agreement, can be enforced against her as a matter of contract law. The Scottsdale Agreement, dealing largely with the annuity method of payment, was executed by Scottsdale Insurance and is enforceable between it and Mrs. Ward. Neither Mountain West nor Dr. Luckwitz signed the Scottsdale Agreement, with the result that it cannot be enforced against them in any manner, also as a matter of law. While the Scottsdale Agreement contains an integration clause, it affects only integration of agreements between Mrs. Ward and Scottsdale Insurance. It has no effect on the independent Settlement Agreement and its indemnity provision.

Mrs. Ward's argument that the Settlement Agreement was preliminary and the Scottsdale Agreement was final between all parties raises a possible issue of ambiguity into the Agreements. Faced with that circumstance, it was appropriate for the trial court to consider all evidence, extrinsic or otherwise, in determining the intent of the parties. The extrinsic evidence relied upon by the trial court establishes that there was no intent that the Settlement Agreement be preliminary and that the Scottsdale Agreement was intended to address the issue of periodic payment of the \$606,667 balance due to Mrs. Ward.

While the issues involved construction of the Agreements, the core issue presented to the trial court was whether it could ultimately make a meaningful award of damages to Mrs. Ward in the event she prevailed on her ostensible agency claim against McKay-Dee. The existence of the indemnity agreements effectively precludes any meaningful award, would result in circular litigation, and would simply be a waste of judicial resources. If McKay-Dee had to pay damages to Mrs. Ward, it

would be entitled to indemnification by Mountain West. If Mountain West had to pay McKay-Dee under their agreement, it would be entitled to indemnification from Mrs. Ward. The circularity was apparent to the trial court. As a result, the trial court correctly entered summary judgment in favor of Mountain West and terminated the action based upon its inability to award meaningful damages. It is appropriate for this Court to affirm that decision.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ISSUES PRESENTED HERE WERE PROPERLY RESOLVED BY SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

In order to recover on her tort claims, Mrs. Ward was required to establish that the trial court could award her damages for her alleged injuries. Schuurman v. Singleton, 2001 UT 52, ¶¶ 10, 18, 22, 26 P. 3d 227. In fact, however, the court could not award any meaningful damages until all of the indemnification issues had been resolved which resulted in circular payments and ultimately, no meaningful damage award. That governing issue is a matter of contract law.

Summary judgment is appropriate in any case where there are no disputed facts material to the legal issues and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), Utah R.Civ.P. It is well-established that interpretation of a contract is a matter of law. *E.g.*, Pack v. Case, 2001 UT App 232, ¶ 16, 30 P.3d 436, 440. Where the applicable terms of the contract are unambiguous, there are no material issues of fact outside the contract itself. “If the language within the four corners of the contract is unambiguous, the parties’ intentions are determined from the plain meaning of the contractual language, and the contract may be interpreted

as a matter of law.” Green River Canal Co. v. Thayn, 2003 UT 50, ¶ 17, 84 P.3d 1134, 1140 (citation omitted). Mountain West’s involvement in this case is a matter of contract, specifically the indemnification clause in the Hospital Agreement. To the extent it incurs liability for indemnification, it is entitled to recover the entire amount from Mrs. Ward via contractual indemnification. There are no issues of fact related to these agreements and Mrs. Ward advanced no such issues at the trial court. The trial court, therefore, was dealing solely with questions of law appropriate for resolution by summary judgment.

POINT II

**THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND
SCOTTSDALE AGREEMENT ARE
INDEPENDENT AND EACH IS ENFORCEABLE
WITH RESPECT TO ITS RELATIVE TERMS
AND PARTIES. THE INDEMNITY PROVISION
IN THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT IS
THEREFORE ENFORCEABLE AGAINST MRS.
WARD.**

The Settlement Agreement and Scottsdale Agreement are unambiguous on their face. The only suggestion of ambiguity arises from Mrs. Ward’s insistence that the Settlement Agreement is preliminary to the Scottsdale Agreement, which became the final agreement between the parties. This possible ambiguity is addressed *infra* at Point III.

Mrs. Ward’s insistence that the Settlement Agreement is preliminary and that the Scottsdale Agreement is an integrated final agreement lacks any evidentiary basis. It is important, therefore, to avoid the temptation to accept this conclusory argument, but rather to understand the nature and specifics of each agreement.

A. The trial court correctly ruled that the Settlement Agreement is valid and enforceable.

The Settlement Agreement was a settlement of claims asserted by Mrs. Ward against Mountain West and Dr. Luckwitz. In return for \$1,000,000, Mrs. Ward agreed to release all claims against Mountain West and Dr. Luckwitz and to indemnify them for any future liability based upon their actions giving rise to her claims against them. Mrs. Ward executed the Settlement Agreement in her individual, conservator and guardian capacities.² In addition to the release and indemnity provisions, two things are worthy of note. The first is that there is no language in the Settlement Agreement which indicates the intent of the parties that it be a preliminary agreement leading to a second and final agreement. Instead, the Settlement Agreement expressly indicates the intent of the parties that it be a final, binding agreement. “Ward acknowledges and agrees that this Settlement Agreement contains the entire agreement between herself and Insured with regard to the matters set forth in this Settlement Agreement . . .” (R. 1420.) Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, Mrs. Ward was concurrently paid \$393,333 (R. 1426.), and the balance reserved for a structured annuity.

The Settlement Agreement contains all of the elements of a valid, enforceable contract. Mrs. Ward, as the one against whom the contract is to be enforced, signed the Settlement Agreement. She exchanged promises, *e.g.*, the release and

² Before the trial court, Mrs. Ward argued that the Settlement Agreement was void because it was not signed by Mountain West or Dr. Luckwitz. This, however, is typical of release agreements which are valid contracts given the consideration and performance provided by the non-signing party. Moreover, as correctly observed by the trial court, the Settlement Agreement is enforceable against Mrs. Ward under the Statute of Frauds. (R. 1872-1873.) A promise need only be in writing and signed by the party to be charged, *i.e.*, Mrs. Ward. Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-4(1)(b). *See also Auerbach’s, Inc. v. Kimball*, 572 P.2d 376, 378 (Utah 1977).

indemnification agreements, for consideration of \$1,000,000 with an initial payment of \$393,333.

B. The Scottsdale Agreement is valid and enforceable as to Mrs. Ward and Scottsdale Insurance.

It is the existence and nature of the Scottsdale Agreement which presents the problem resolved by the trial court. The Scottsdale Agreement was between Mrs. Ward and Scottsdale Insurance Co. Though Mountain West and Dr. Luckwitz were identified as “Parties” in the Scottsdale Agreement, neither signed the agreement. Nor was there any indication of intent that they sign the agreement. There are no signature blocks for them in the Scottsdale Agreement. “Under standard contract principles, the presence or absence of signatures on a written contract is relevant to determining whether the contract is binding on the parties.” In re Bunzl USA, Inc., 155 S.W.3d 202, 209 (Tex. App. 2004) (finding no agreement to arbitrate where party had not signed the written contract). *See also* Davies v. Olson, 746 P.2d 264, 267 (Utah App. 1987) (finding no meeting of minds where written contract was not executed by defendant).

Nor is there any evidence that Scottsdale Insurance had authority to act as agent for Mountain West or Dr. Luckwitz to waive, modify or impair their contractual right to indemnity under the Settlement Agreement. “To be an agent, a person must be authorized by another to act on his behalf and subject to his control.” Gildea v. Guardian Title Co. of Utah, 970 P.2d 1265, 1269 (Utah 1998) (punctuation omitted, quoting Restatement (Second) of Agency § 1 (1958)).

Although Mrs. Ward argued to the trial court that Scottsdale was agent for Mountain West and Dr. Luckwitz, here she simply makes a conclusory allegation of agency. (Appellant’s Br. ¶ 10 p. 7.) The closest thing to a statement of agency is in

the Scottsdale Agreement where Scottsdale states that it “has authority to settle any such claim or suit on behalf of and as agent for the insured . . .” (R. 1423-1424.) There are two problems with this cursory statement of agency. First, the “claim or suit” had already been settled pursuant to the Settlement Agreement. There was no remaining basis for Scottsdale to act as agent. Second is that the representations of agency in the Scottsdale Agreement are made by the purported agent and not by Dr. Luckwitz or Mountain West, who are the purported principals. It is black-letter law that to create an agency relationship, the principal must consent to have the agent represent his interests and the agent must agree to act on behalf of and for the benefit of the principal.

Agency is the fiduciary relation which results from the manifestation of consent by one person to another that the other shall act on his behalf and subject to his control, and consent by the other to so act.

Restatement, Agency (Second) § 1. Utah case law addresses the situation where the agent claims to have agency authority.

The authority of the agent is not ‘apparent’ merely because it looks so to the person with whom he deals. It is the principal who must cause third parties to believe that the agent is clothed with apparent authority . . . It follows that one who deals exclusively with an agent has the responsibility to ascertain that agent’s authority despite the agent’s representations.”

Zions First National Bank v. Clark Clinic Corp., 762 P.2d 1090, 1095 (Utah 1988)

(punctuation, citations omitted, emphasis added.) For an agency relationship to exist, Dr. Luckwitz and Mountain West must have conducted themselves in a way to cause Mrs. Ward to believe that Scottsdale Insurance had apparent authority to act on their behalf. Bodell Construction Co. v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co., 945 P.2d 119, 124 (Utah App. 1997) (finding no apparent authority where title agent used

company's name and logo in its promotional materials.) "Additionally, if plaintiffs really believed that [Scottsdale] was acting as [Mountain West's] agent for settlement, . . . then they were under an obligation to ascertain the scope of that agency." *Id.* (citation omitted).

There is no express agency here. The Liability Policy does not create an agency relationship. In fact, for settlement purposes, the insurance agreement expressly reserves to the insured the right to ultimately control the settlement of any claim against it. (R. 1451, ¶ 6.) There is no written waiver of that privilege. Neither Dr. Luckwitz nor Mountain West did anything which would suffice to create apparent authority for Scottsdale to act as their agent. Nor, under the facts of this case, can settlement authority be inferred. There is no reason why, after having already entered into a settlement and indemnification agreement with Mrs. Ward, Dr. Luckwitz or Mountain West would authorize Scottsdale to alter, modify or compromise the already settled matter on their behalf. Dr. Luckwitz and Mountain West received nothing under the Scottsdale Agreement. Moreover, because they had paid their policy limits to settle the claim, the indemnification provision was of supreme importance to them because they had essentially exhausted their available insurance coverage by paying limits and their only remaining protection was the indemnity paragraph. Scottsdale's unilateral statement in the language of the Scottsdale Agreement that it had authority to act as agent for Dr. Luckwitz and Mountain West simply fails as a matter of well-established law to create an agency relationship by apparent authority. It is clear that Mrs. Ward and her counsel dealt solely with Scottsdale Insurance with respect to the Scottsdale Agreement, accepted its assurance of agency on behalf of all insureds, and did nothing to fulfill her

“obligation to ascertain the scope of that agency.” Bodell at 124. Her agency allegations therefore fail as a matter of law.

Mountain West and Dr. Luckwitz were neither parties nor principals represented by agents who were parties to the Scottsdale Agreement. That does not, however, undermine the validity of the Scottsdale Agreement with respect to the issues between Mrs. Ward and Scottsdale, *i.e.*, structured payment of the remaining settlement amount. This is made clear by language of the integration clause which Mrs. Ward ignores. The entirety of the agreement is between the parties “signing this Agreement.” (R. 1433.) Those signing parties are Mrs. Ward and Scottsdale. It is the entire agreement “with regard to the matters set forth in it.” (R. 1432.) Those matters are primarily provisions for periodic payment of the balance of the cash settlement.³ By its own language, the integration provision does not include matters not “set forth in it,” specifically matters such as the indemnification provision of the Settlement Agreement.

C. There was no intent that the Settlement Agreement be preliminary and incorporated into the Scottsdale Agreement in the future.

Without any evidentiary basis for doing so, Mrs. Ward focuses her efforts on arguing that the Settlement Agreement was simply a preliminary agreement which was incorporated into the Scottsdale Agreement. The main problem with this argument, as noted above, is that there is no evidence on the face of either agreement that there was an intent to make a preliminary settlement followed by a more detailed agreement. In fact, the face of the Settlement Agreement indicates

³ As noted, neither Dr. Luckwitz nor Mountain West benefitted in any way from the Scottsdale Agreement. They simply had no interest in the contractual matters involving a structured annuity. The sole beneficiaries from the Scottsdale Agreement were Mrs. Ward and Scottsdale Insurance.

otherwise. The Scottsdale Agreement makes no reference to the Settlement Agreement. Mrs. Ward argues that the unambiguous, but general language of the integration clauses in the Scottsdale Agreement incorporates the Settlement Agreement. She ignores the fact that the language in the Settlement Agreement is also unambiguous and does not, on its face, contemplate the agreement as preliminary. As discussed above, the proper construction yields the conclusion that both Agreements are independent.

D. It is not necessary to “harmonize” the two agreements.

Though the trial court sought to “harmonize” the two Agreements, it did not have to do so. Both Agreements are complete and separately valid and enforceable with respect to the promises contained in them respectively and as to the parties to the individual agreements. While there is some attraction to creating some sort of continuity between the documents, neither Agreement suffers if treated as a separate, distinct contract. Any attempt by the trial court to harmonize the two contracts is harmless and ultimately illustrates that the agreements serve different purposes.

POINT III

**THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED
EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE IN DETERMINING
WHETHER THE PARTIES INTENDED THAT
THE TWO AGREEMENTS BE MERGED.**

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